Washington, DC 20375-5320



NRL/6880/MR-2022/1

# Homoepitaxy of III-Nitride Semiconductors

JENNIFER HITE MICHAEL MASTRO JAIME FREITAS EVAN GLASER JAMES GALLAGHER TRAVIS ANDERSON

Power and Advanced Materials Branch Electronics Science and Technology Division

DAVID STORM MATTHEW HARDY

*Electromagnetic Technology Branch Electronics Science and Technology Division* 

JOHN LYONS

Center for Materials Physics and Technology Materials Science and Technology Division

October 10, 2022

DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT A: Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited.

# **REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE**

#### Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188

Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing this collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing this burden to Department of Defense, Washington Headquarters Services, Directorate for Information Operations and Reports (0704-0188), 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302. Respondents should be aware that notwithstanding any other provision of law, no person shall be subject to any penalty for failing to comply with a collection of information if it does not display a currently valid OMB control number. **PLEASE DO NOT RETURN YOUR FORM TO THE ABOVE ADDRESS.** 3. DATES COVERED (From - To) 1. REPORT DATE (DD-MM-YYYY) 2. REPORT TYPE 10-10-2022 NRL Memorandum Report 10/2017 - 09/2022 4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE 5a. CONTRACT NUMBER Homoepitaxy of III-Nitride Semiconductors **5b. GRANT NUMBER** 5c. PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER 61153N 6. AUTHOR(S) 5d. PROJECT NUMBER 5e. TASK NUMBER Jennifer Hite, Michael Mastro, Jaime Freitas, Evan Glaser, James Gallagher, Travis Anderson, David Storm, Matthew Hardy, and John Lyons 5f. WORK UNIT NUMBER 1107 8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT 7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES) NUMBER Naval Research Laboratory 4555 Overlook Avenue, SW NRL/6880/MR--2022/1 Washington, DC 20375-5320 9. SPONSORING / MONITORING AGENCY NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES) 10. SPONSOR / MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S) Naval Research Laboratory NRL Base Program 6.1 4555 Overlook Avenue, SW 11. SPONSOR / MONITOR'S REPORT Washington, DC 20375-5320 NUMBER(S) 12. DISTRIBUTION / AVAILABILITY STATEMENT DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT A: Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited.

#### **13. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES**

#### 14. ABSTRACT

This program focused on understanding the fundamental issues involved in homoepitaxial growth of III-nitride semiconductors with the goal of enabling applications in the fields of high power and rf electronics. The program showed the importance of incoming characteristics of the GaN wafers – with roughness, structural defects, degree of offcut, and inhomogeneity impacting homoepitaxial growth and electrical performance in p-i-n and Schottky diodes. Additionally, the utility of long-range characterization of incoming substrates and epitaxy was highlighted and used to first set metrics and then predict electrical performance. The regrowth interface was shown to be compositionally clean in MOCVD growth, except for high levels of Si at the interface. However, this Si did not impact thermal conductivity of the boundary or epitaxial layers at room temperature. Impurities in the nitrides were described in a tutorial on GaN and the optical changes in highly C-doped GaN were explained. Further theoretical work on ultra-wide bandgap nitrides found that holes in AlN will be easily localized reducing the potential for p-type conductivity. Investigations in c-BN found two potential n-type dopants. MAC etching showed a dependence of etch rate on the conductivity and type of material (substrate vs. epitaxial layers), but still shows potential in producing deep etching without causing non-radiative defects, which are observed with more conventional plasma-based processes. Finally, in examining MBE-grown RTDs, high performing devices were produced on homoepitaxial structures using optimized surface cleaning and a 2-step growth process. In general, the work in this program sets a foundational base for forming vertical device technologies in our current GaN efforts as well as exploring aspects for ultra-wide bandgap nitride semiconductors.

#### 15. SUBJECT TERMS

GaN, gallium nitride, homoepitaxy, defects, interface, impurities, defects, MOCVD, MBE, Schottky diodes, diodes, resonant tunneling diodes, etch, AlN, aluminum nitride, BN, boron nitride, carbon, silicon, thermal conductivity, substrate, inhomogeneity

16. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF:			17. LIMITATION	18. NUMBER	<b>19a. NAME OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON</b>
			OF ABSTRACT	OF PAGES	Jennifer Hite
a. REPORT U	b. ABSTRACT U	<b>c. THIS PAGE</b> U	U	16	<b>19b. TELEPHONE NUMBER</b> (include area code) (202) 404-8712

This page intentionally left blank.

# CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUC 1.1 Objecti 1.2 Motivat 1.3 Backgro	TION ve tion ound	1 1 1 1			
2.	APPROACH		2			
3.	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION					
	3.1 Underst	tanding the Incoming Native GaN Substrates	3			
	3.2 Substra	te-Epitaxy Effects	3			
	3.2.1	Roughness	3			
	3.2.2	Inhomogeneity	4			
	3.3 Homoey	pitaxial Interface	4			
	3.3.1	Composition	4			
	3.3.2	Thermal Conductivity	4			
	3.4 Impurity Incorporation					
	3.4.1	Carbon in GaN	5			
	3.4.2	Carbon in Ultra-Wide Bandgap III-Nitrides	5			
	3.5 Effects on Processing and Device Performance					
	3.5.1	Surface Roughness	6			
	3.5.2	Inhomogeneity	6			
	3.5.3	Metal-Assisted Chemical Etching (MAC)	6			
	3.5.4	Resonant Tunnel Diodes	6			
4.	SUMMARY		7			
5.	BIBLIOGRAPHY OF ALL ARCHIVAL REPORTING GENERATED					
5.1 Articles						
	5.2 Book C	hapters	10			
	5.3 Patents					
	5.3.1	Patents Granted	10			
	5.3.2	Patent Applications	10			

This page intentionally left blank.

# HOMOEPITAXY OF III-NITRIDE SEMICONDUCTORS

# 1. INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Objective

This program focused on understanding the fundamental issues involved in homoepitaxial growth of III-nitride semiconductors with the goal of enabling applications in the fields of high power and rf electronics as well as other novel areas.

## 1.2 Motivation

As a materials system spanning both wide (GaN) and ultra-wide (AlN) bandgaps, the nitride-based semiconductors are attractive for next-generation power devices, including RF amplifiers based on high electron mobility transistor (HEMT) structures, high voltage vertical diodes and power switches, resonant tunneling diodes, and optoelectronic devices. Such devices have a wide range of immediate naval applications, such as high-power satellite communications and radar, unmanned underwater and aerial vehicles, ship drive components, and hybrid vehicle inverters. Despite significant device breakthroughs involving III-nitride semiconductors, such as high efficiency blue LEDs and HEMT-based MMICs, there are still significant materials challenges that must be overcome to realize their full potential and enable widespread adoption and technology insertion.

Until recently, most nitride-based devices were limited to lateral devices, due to the lack of a native substrate which would permit vertical conduction through the substrate. Additionally, the use of a nonnative substrate led to high defect densities, especially dislocations, which impacted device performance and application. The recent introduction, commercial availability, and improving quality of native IIInitride substrates will enable next-generation devices to be vertical in nature. A schematic of the difference between these devices is illustrated in Fig. 1. Although these substrates enable new vertical structures, in order for the homoepitaxial material to reach its full potential, there are several fundamental materials issues that must be addressed, from the substrate surface preparation to impurity and alloy incorporation in the active layers.



Figure 1. Shows the difference in geometry and current path (red dotted line) on (a) a standard lateral device, in this case and AlGaN/GaN HEMT grown heteroepitaxially on a non-native substrate and (b) a vertical p-i-n diode. In the lateral HEMT, the current path is at the surface of the wafer between the source and the drain. In the vertical, the path is from top to bottom, through both the epitaxy and the substrate.

#### 1.3 Background

Manuscript approved September 23, 2022.

Currently, there are several vying techniques used to grow III-nitride substrates. For GaN, the two most prominent techniques are ammonothermal growth and hydride vapor phase epitaxy (HVPE). For AlN substrates, the primary growth technique is physical vapor transport (PVT). Dislocation densities in commercial products are approximately  $10^6$  cm<sup>-2</sup> for HVPE,  $10^4$  cm<sup>-2</sup> for ammonothermal, and  $10^3$  cm<sup>-2</sup> for PVT. These levels are still higher than those in commercial SiC substrates ( $10^{2}-10^{4}$  cm<sup>-2</sup>), but are much reduced in comparison to heteroepitaxial nitride growth on non-native substrates ( $10^{10}$  cm<sup>-2</sup> on sapphire). Additionally, some of the growth methods also result in large lattice bowing within the substrates [1]. The process of slicing wafers from such a boule with distorted crystal planes inherently leads to varying step density across the wafer.

Although the quality of the substrates has improved, there are several remaining issues to be overcome in the initial stages of growth on these substrates. SIMS analysis of homoepitaxial GaN films grown by molecular beam epitaxy (MBE) on both N- and Ga-polar GaN have shown a spike in impurities at the substrate interface, which can act as a leakage path in the buffer and requires additional intentional compensating impurities in order to mitigate this issue [2-4]. As the native oxide on AlN surfaces is bound even more strongly than that for GaN, this is due to be a bigger problem in the ultra-wide bandgap materials. Empirically, we have observed that incoming substrates from different vendors have vastly different surface polish quality. Additionally, the different step densities produced by lattice bow may affect the growth nucleation, surface morphology, and impurity incorporation. In order to grow epitaxially, surface provide a similar starting surface regardless of vendor.

In addition to challenges at the initial nucleation, there are additional challenges to be overcome in order to enable vertical devices. These include reducing impurity incorporations in order to controllably dope the films. For power switches, a drift layer is needed with electron carrier concentrations on the order of 10<sup>15</sup> cm<sup>-2</sup>. In order to reliably achieve these levels, intrinsic defects, compensating impurities, and unintentional dopants must all be understood and controlled at a level an order of magnitude less than this. Compensating impurities are also a problem in achieving p-type doping. These impurities must not only be controlled through growth parameters, but substrate effects must also be taken into consideration. Just as different crystallographic planes incorporate impurities at different rates, the different step densities may also influence impurity incorporation. This perspective explains the observed Siconcentration variation in high Al-containing AlGaN films [5].

Additionally, the lower dislocation density in the III-nitride substrates enables a new examination into the role of dislocations as well as poses new challenges. NRL has shown that the dislocation density of the substrate can be propagated through the homoepitaxially grown films without the introduction of additional threading dislocations by both metal organic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD) and MBE [6,7]. However, in heteroepitaxial growth, threading screw dislocations act as growth nucleation sites. The impact of lowered dislocation densities on growth mechanics needs to be understood. With the use of native substrates instead of heteroepitaxial growth, additional defects may arise from the substrate, such as basal plane dislocations. Additionally, many nitride defects deleteriously impact optical emission of the material. Understanding of the extended and point defects arising from the substrate as well as methods of reduction must be achieved. In GaN-based resonant tunneling diodes, repeatable negative differential resistance has been difficult to observe, ostensibly due in part to dislocations which can act as leakage paths [8]. This has been observed even when grown homoepitaxially on HVPE substrates, showing that further reduction of dislocation density is still necessary to fulfill the full potential of these types of devices. The limited supply of low-defects native substrates has prevented an understanding of the behavior of electronic and optical processes at low dislocation densities. Thus, the question in III-nitrides has now become how low in defectivity can we achieve and how low is actually necessary.

#### 2. APPROACH

A cross section of a very simple vertical device structure, a Schottky diode, is shown in Figure 2. Our approach to form a fundamental understanding of homoepitaxial growth was to focus on several areas of interest. These include understanding the incoming substrate characteristics, the effects of the substrate on epitaxial growth and properties, the homoepitaxial interface characteristics, impurity incorporation within the epitaxial layers, and then how those issues affect device performance and processing. The samples in this work were grown either by metal organic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD) or molecular beam epitaxy (MBE), with MOCVD being the dominant technique reviewed in Sections 3.1 - 3.5.3.



Figure 2. Cross-section of a simple Schottky diode where the layers consist of a highly doped native n-type substrate and a homoepitaxially grown n<sup>-</sup> drift layer, with metal contacts on both sides. The points of interest for the program are indicated.

# 3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

#### **3.1 Understanding the Incoming Native GaN Substrates**

The foundational step in moving GaN technology to a vertical geometry lies in the introduction of native, commercial substrates. With the introduction of these substrates, the first step is to fully understand the characteristics of the incoming material. At the beginning of this work, the technology was in its infancy, and substrate sizes were small (10 x10 mm<sup>2</sup> in some cases). By evaluating multiple wafers from several vendors using Raman spectroscopy, photoluminescence, white light optical profilometry, and Nomarski imaging, it was found that the quality and characteristics of the incoming substrates varied considerably. Various defects were seen in different wafers, including grain boundaries, large wafer bow, impurity incorporation, point defects, v-shaped cone defects, polishing defects, crystal stress damage, and varying insulating and conductive regions, all of which are concerning for a device technology. However, others were more uniform. All incoming wafers showed smooth surface morphology on a small scale, with subnm rms roughness, but often saw variations on a larger scale. The details of these results can be found in [9]. Throughout the maturing of the substrate technology, which also resulted in an increase in average wafer size to 2" diameter, incoming substrates were characterized using the long-range techniques previously mentioned. Over time, the substrates could be categorized into two types by their uniformity with respect to defects and carrier concentration: Type I which were highly uniform and Type II which were not. Type II were further divided into those with a regular, patterned non-uniformity (Type IIa) and those with a more random non-uniformity (Type IIb). This first group (Type IIa), although not as desirable as Type I substrates from a yield perspective, still allowed for further understanding of the non-uniformities on the epitaxial layers and on electrical performance. Further details of this work can be found in [10, 11]. As the substrate technology has progressed and these results were published, most manufacturers are now producing Type I substrates and wafers with up to 4" diameters have become available.

#### **3.2** Substrate-Epitaxy Effects

### 3.2.1 Roughness

The surface morphology of the substrate is replicated and exaggerated with increasing thickness in the epilayers. Samples with more surface morphology or polishing damage did not evidence step flow-growth. Details on the growth and results were published in [12].

#### 3.2.2 Inhomogeneity

As mentioned earlier, Type II substrates showed inhomogeneity in carrier concentration through characterization using Raman spectroscopy mapping. Surprisingly, that inhomogeneity carried into the epitaxial layers. This was shown both in Raman spectroscopy mapping and photoluminescence measurements. Photoluminescence is extremely surface sensitive, and broadening of the near band edge emission from the GaN epitaxial layers grown on Type II substrates shows that this inhomogeneity in carrier concentration is present at the sample surface. Thus, changes in carrier concentration, if present in the substrate, continue to impact the epitaxial growth. Details of this work are found in [10, 12].

# 3.3 Homoepitaxial Interface

In general, a clean interface is highly desired at any regrowth interface – either substrate-epi or epiepi, as impurities in the III-nitrides can lead to changes in carrier concentration, induce defects and dislocations, and inhibit thermal conductivity.

#### 3.3.1 Composition

It had previously been published that the homoepitaxial interface of GaN grown by MBE shows a large concentration of oxygen, carbon, and silicon at the interface [3]. It was assumed that growing the homoepitaxial layers by MOCVD would reduce all of these contaminants, due to the use of hydrogen as a carrier gas at high temperatures during the ramp to growth temperatures. That was found to be true for C and O. However, regardless of the substrate vendor or substrate composition, a large, sharp peak in Si was observed in secondary ion mass spectroscopy data at the substrate-epi interface. This was found to only occur after the original GaN substrate surface was exposed to atmosphere, meaning the source of the silicon is not from within the reactor chamber. Additionally, in a controlled experiment varying the Si dopant level of the GaN substrate, it was established that the Si at the interface increased with increasing Si levels in the substrate. Theoretical calculations show Si to have the lowest energy barrier to incorporation of all group IV elements into GaN, meaning it will readily incorporate if on the surface of GaN, even at low temperatures. When ramping up to growth temperatures, the atmosphere in the MOCVD will clean the surface of hydrocarbons. Additionally, there is some decomposition of the surface. However, the MOCVD atmosphere does not remove the Si. Substrates with a larger Si composition would have more Si at the surface to be incorporated. Further details of this work can be found in [12-14].

## 3.3.2 Thermal Conductivity

With large amounts of Si at the interface, the effects on thermal conductivity needed to be understood. From time domain thermoreflectance and steady state thermoreflectance measurements of equivalent thicknesses of heteroepitaxial and homoepitaxial GaN films, it was determined that the homoepitaxial GaN films possessed much higher thermal conductivities than the heteroepitaxial material. The homoepitaxial films, even with layers as thin as  $0.25 \,\mu\text{m}$ , agree with or are slightly higher than the first principles lattice dynamics predictions. The mean thermal conductivities of the homoepitaxial films higher than the predictions may indicate scattering at the homoepitaxial interface in these calculations may not be as diffusive as assumed in the calculations. In general, this means that at room temperature, the high concentration of Si at the GaN/GaN homoepitaxial interface is not impacting the thermal conductivity of the material. However, it was observed that below 200 K scattering at the interface and defects begins to reduce the thermal conductivity. More details of this work and the techniques used can be found in [15,16].

#### 3.4 Impurity Incorporation

5

There are many impurities incorporated into the III-nitride semiconductors during growth. In GaN, these include unintentional impurities (O, Si, C) and those intentionally added to add holes or electrons to certain epitaxial layers (Mg, Si), those added to compensate donors to produce semi-insulating layers (C, Fe, Mn, Be), and those used to alloy the materials to control the bandgap (In, Al, B). To support a thorough understanding of impurity incorporation, a tutorial was published [17]. In it, the basic concepts were explained defining the behavior of dopants, unintentional impurities, and point defects in GaN. It also described how to interpret experimental results in the context of theoretical calculations, and how defect properties vary in III-nitride alloys.

# 3.4.1 Carbon in GaN

Carbon incorporation in GaN is extremely complex, as it can form states such as interstitials, selfcompensating donors, deep acceptors, acceptor pairs, and other complexes [18]. In MOCVD-grown films, it is unintentionally incorporated from the metal-organic precursors used as a Group III source, such as trimethylgallium, trimethylaluminum, and trimethylindium. The level of carbon unintentionally incorporated can be somewhat controlled with growth conditions. In this program, it was also found that the unintentional incorporation of C changes with the substrate offcut, increasing with increasing offcut angle [12]. Theoretical efforts supported this finding, as calculations showed the lowest energy barrier for C incorporation is at a step edge. The higher offcut angle wafers have more steps so should incorporate more carbon into the homoepitaxial layers. Part of these calculations can be found in [19].

However, C can also be intentionally incorporated at high concentrations to produce semi-insulating GaN layers. The optical and electrical properties of heavily C doped GaN were studied using photoluminescence spectroscopy and hybrid density functional theory (DFT). Previous work had established that carbon acceptors ( $C_N$ ) give rise to a yellow luminescence band near 2.2 eV [20]. Photoluminescence measurements showed this optical transition shifting as a function of carbon concentration, suggesting a change in the behavior of carbon dopants. Hybrid DFT was used to calculate the electrical and optical behavior of carbon species containing multiple carbon impurities and compared the behavior of these complexes to the isolated centers. From this, the  $C_{Ga}$ - $C_N$  complex is a good candidate to explain the shift in the YL peak. Furthermore, the local vibrational modes of carbon impurity centers were determined, and compared these results to recent experiments. Further details can be found in [21].

### 3.4.2 Carbon in Ultra-Wide Bandgap III-Nitrides

With increasing bandgap, the ability to dope semiconductors becomes increasing difficult, with the proclivity to doping type depending on the band structure and defects [22]. For example, p-type doping in GaN is difficult, with Mg having an ionization energy >140 meV and hydrogen (a carrier gas in MOCVD) forming a neutral complex with Mg that must be broken to achieve p-type conductivity. The situation is even more complicated in AlN and BN, both with bandgaps greater than 6.0 eV.

In AlN, theoretical investigations in hole behavior show that there is a small energy difference between delocalized and trapped holes in AlN, so small permutations in the lattice structure can result in hole trapping – forming transition levels. We see that most alloying elements (B, In, Sc) will trap holes, and the transition levels formed may explain deep optical signals in some of these alloys. Acceptor impurities also strongly trap holes – doing so by stabilizing 2 holes and forming 2 localized states, except for Be. The stability of the trapped holes increases with increasing size mismatch. Also, the ionization energy of all other acceptors investigated are higher than Mg. So, theoretically, none should be easier to use as a dopant than Mg. Details of this work are found in [23].

For cubic boron nitride (c-BN), another ultra-wide bandgap III-nitride semiconductor, hybrid DFT was used to address potential n-type dopants and compensating centers. This work investigated Si, Ge, S, Se, C, O, F, and Li as dopants. Many of these candidates' usefulness were impacted by self-compensation

or high formation energies. However, potential candidate donors were found in  $Si_B$  and  $O_N$ . For all of these dopants, compensation by boron vacancies remains a concern. Further details are in [24].

# 3.5 Effects on Processing and Device Performance

#### 3.5.1 Surface Roughness

To understand the effects of roughness on device performance, Schottky diodes were fabricated on a single 2" diameter wafer at the beginning of the program. Across this single wafer, large differences in leakage current and breakdown voltage were observed. Investigating the morphology around individual diodes showed an immediate correlation between large-scale surface roughness and device performance, where rougher areas showed increased leakage current and reduced breakdown voltage. Further details of the experimental details and results can be found in [25]. These findings helped establish the utility of using large-scale characterization techniques on both incoming substrates and epitaxy and were further supported by efforts in training neural networks to predict device performance from morphological data. These machine learning efforts have been able to predict device metrics with high accuracy using wafer morphology as the incoming data. This is the basis of one recently granted US patent, another patent application, and a manuscript currently under review [26, 27].

# 3.5.2 Inhomogeneity

Comparing *p-i-n* diodes fabricated on Type I vs. Type IIa substrates revealed some issues due to inhomogeneity in carrier concentration as well as defectivity in the Type IIa wafers. The inhomogeneity was shown earlier to carry into the homoepitaxial films. Due to the regular, patterned nature of the inhomogeneity in the Type IIa substrates, devices could be aligned with respect to the inhomogeneous pattern. In comparison, device yield and performance on *p-i-n* diodes on Type I substrates are more consistent with higher yield and lower leakage current. However, devices with Type IIa substrates show the impact of locating devices over substrate defects – in this case, at stress centers (identified by Raman spectroscopy mapping of the E2 peak). In this case, the effects of the stress center seem to have the largest influence on devices, impacting the rectification ratio and increasing leakage current on devices directly over these defects. Further details can be found in [28].

# 3.5.3 Metal-Assisted Chemical Etching (MAC)

In addition to understanding the influence of epitaxy and substrate on devices, novel processing will be necessary for several types of vertical devices, including a need for etching of deep trenches without incurring sidewall damage. One of the potential ways to do this is by using metal-assisted chemical etching (MAC), which is a metal-catalyzed and local (open-circuit) electrochemical etching method capable of producing semiconductor structures defined by a patterned metal film in a forward (etching below the metal) or inverse (etching outside the metal) process. By etching pillars though GaN epitaxial layers into the native substrate, it was found that increasing the Si-doping levels to produce n-type conductivity in the MOCVD epitaxial layers increases the etch rate and produces smoother etch surfaces. However, the substrates showed a different etch morphology and accelerated etch rate. This is partially thought to be due to the high Si concentration at the GaN/GaN regrowth interface. Etching in this manner achieved etch rates similar to RIE etching, but without non-radiative sidewall damage. More details on this work are published in [29].

#### 3.5.4 Resonant Tunnel Diodes

In addition to the Schottky and *p-i-n* diodes investigated with MOCVD, to assess the homoepitaxial growth of structures grown via MBE, resonant tunneling diodes (RTDs) have been grown homoepitaxially on native substrates for comparison to those grown heteroepitaxially on sapphire substrates. The electrical

properties of these RTDs are sensitive to the abruptness of the interfaces between the barrier layers and the quantum well, as well as the uniformity of the layer thicknesses, and hence are useful indicators of material quality. These efforts have been successful, resulting in the first demonstration in the III-nitride material system of repeatable, stable, hysteresis-free negative differential resistance (NDR) at room temperature, as well as possessing extremely high current density and near-UV cross-gap light emission. While repeatable, room-temperature NDR was first observed in III-N RTDs grown homoepitaxially on low dislocation-density native GaN substrates, the results from this program show homoepitaxial and heteroepitaxial RTDs to possess NDR, but the homoepitaxial structures have a better peak-to-valley current ratio. Experiments with growth temperature showed similar trends for both homoepitaxial and heteroepitaxial structures, where higher growth temperatures had higher peak current density, but lower temperature growth had better yield and smoother surfaces. A two-step growth process was investigated along with in-situ surface preparation to increase the current density, which resulted in a record high peak current density of 1 MA/cm<sup>2</sup> and a peak-to-valley current ratio greater than 2. Additionally, 90% of the devices using this process exhibited stable NDR at room temperature. Further details of this work can be found in [30-33].

#### 4. SUMMARY

This program focused on understanding the fundamental issues involved in homoepitaxial growth of III-nitride semiconductors with the goal of enabling applications in the fields of high power and rf electronics. The program showed the importance of incoming characteristics of the GaN wafers - with roughness, structural defects, degree of offcut, and inhomogeneity impacting homoepitaxial growth and electrical performance in *p-i-n* and Schottky diodes. Additionally, the utility of long-range characterization of incoming substrates and epitaxy was highlighted and used to first set metrics and then predict electrical performance. The regrowth interface was shown to be compositionally clean in MOCVD growth, except for high levels of Si at the interface. However, this Si did not impact thermal conductivity of the boundary or epitaxial layers at room temperature. Impurities in the nitrides were described in a tutorial on GaN and the optical changes in highly C-doped GaN were explained. Further theoretical work on ultra-wide bandgap nitrides found that holes in AlN will be easily localized reducing the potential for p-type conductivity. Investigations in c-BN found two potential n-type dopants. MAC etching showed a dependence of etch rate on the conductivity and type of material (substrate vs. epitaxial layers), but still shows potential in producing deep etching without causing non-radiative defects, which are observed with more conventional plasma-based processes. Finally, in examining MBE-grown RTDs, high performing devices were produced on homoepitaxial structures using optimized surface cleaning and a 2-step growth process. In general, the work in this program set a foundational base for forming vertical device technologies in our current GaN efforts as well as exploring aspects for ultra-wide bandgap nitride semiconductors.

# 5. BIBLIOGRAPHY OF ALL ARCHIVAL REPORTING GENERATED

## 5.1 Articles

- a. Y.R. Koh, M.S. Bin Hoque, D.H. Olson, H. Ahmad, Z. Liu, J. Shi, W. Steven, K. Huynh, E.R. Hoglund, J.M. Howe, M.S. Goorsky, S. Graham, T. Luo, J.K. Hite, W.A. Doolittle, and P.E. Hopkins, "High thermal conductivity and thermal boundary conductance of homoepitaxially grown gallium nitride (GaN) thin films," Phys. Rev. Mater. 5(10), 104604 (2021).
- b. M.E.Turiansky, D. Wickramaratne, J.L. Lyons, C.G. Van de Walle, "Prospects for n-type conductivity in cubic boron nitride" Appl. Phys. Lett. 119, 162105 (2021).
- c. C. Chan, N. Shuyumi, J.K. Hite, M.A. Mastro, S. Qadri, X. Li, "Homoepitaxial GaN Micropillar Array by Plasma-Free Photo-Enhanced MacEtch," J. Vac.Sci. Tech. A 39, 053212 (2021).
- d. J. Lyons, E.R. Glaser, M.E. Zvanut, S. Paudel, M. Iwinska, T. Sochacki, M. Bockowski, "Carbon complexes in highly C-doped GaN," Phys. Rev. B 104, 075201, (2021).

- e. M.S. Bin Hoque, Y.R. Koh, K. Aryana, E.R. Hoglaund, J.L. Braun, D.H. Olson, J.T. Gaskins, H. Ahmad, M.M.M. Elahi, J.K. Hite, Z.C. Leseman, W.A. Doolittle, P.E. Hopkins, "Thermal conductivity measurements of sub-surface buried substrates by steady-state thermoreflectance," Rev. Sci. Instr. 92 (6), 064906 (2021).
- f. J.L. Lyons, C.G. Van de Walle, "Hole Trapping at Acceptor Impurities and Alloying Elements in AlN," Phys. Status Sol. RRL 15 (8), 2100218 (2021).
- g. M. Ebrish, T.J. Anderson, A.G. Jacobs, J.C. Gallagher, J.K. Hite, M.A. Mastro, B. Feigelson, Y. Wang, M. Liao, M. Goorsky, K.D. Hobart, "Process Optimization for Selective Area Doping of GaN by Ion Implantation," J. Electr. Mater. 50, 4642-4649 (2021).
- h. J.C. Gallagher, T.J. Anderson, A.D. Koehler, M.A. Ebrish, G.M. Foster, M.A. Mastro, J.K. Hite, B.P. Gunning, R.J. Kaplar, K.D. Hobart, F.J. Kub, "Effect of GaN substrate properties on vertical GaN PiN diode electrical performance," J. Electr. Mater. 50, 3013-3021 (2021).
- i. J.L. Lyons, D. Wickramaratne, C.G. Van de Walle, "A first-principles understanding of point defects and impurities in GaN," J. Appl. Phys. 129, 111101 (2021).
- j. MA.P. Nguyen, J.K. Hite, M.A. Mastro, M. Kianinia, M. Toth, I. Aharonovich, "Site Control of quantum emitters in gallium nitride by polarity," Appl. Phys. Lett. 118(2), 021103 (2021).
- k. J.K. Hite, M.A. Mastro, J.C. Gallagher, M. Ebrish, T.J. Anderson, J.A. Freitas, "GaN Homoepitaxial Growth and Substrate-Dependent Effects for Vertical Power Devices," ECS Trans. 98 (6), 63-67 (2020).
- 1. J.K. Hite and J.M. Zavada, "Dilute Magnetic III-Nitride Semiconductors Based on Rare Earth Doping," ECS Journal of Solid State Science and Technology 8 (9), P527-P535 (2019).
- m. C.E. Dreyer, A. Alkauskas, J.L. Lyons, C.G. Van de Walle, "Radiative capture rates at deep defects from electronic structure calculations," Phys. Rev. B 102, 085305 (2020).
- n. J.C. Gallagher, T.J. Anderson, A.D. Koehler, M. Ebrish, M.A. Mastro, J.K. Hite, K.D. Hobart, F.J. Kub, "Predicting Vertical GaN Diode Quality using Long Range Optical Tests on Substrates," CS MANTECH Conference Digest, May 11-14, 2020, 207-210.
- B. Hauer, C. Marvinney, M. Lewin, N. Mahadik, J.K. Hite, N. Bassim, A. Giles, R. Stahlbush, J. Caldwell, T. Taubner, "Exploiting phonon-resonant near-field interaction for the nanoscale investigation of extended defects," Adv. Funct. Mater. 30 (10), 1907357 (2020).
- p. E.M. Cornuelle, T.A. Growden, D.F. Storm, E.R. Brown, W.-D. Zhang, B.P. Downey, V. Gokhale, L. Ruppalt, J. Champlain, P. Peri, M. McCartney, D.J. Smith, D.J. Meyer, and P.R. Berger, "Effects of growth temperature on electrical properties of GaN/AlN resonant tunneling diodes with peak current density up to 1.01 MA/cm<sup>2</sup>," AIP Adv. 10 055307 (2020).
- q. T.A. Growden, D.F. Storm, E.M. Cornuelle, E.R. Brown, W.-D. Zhang, B.P. Downey, J.A. Roussos, N. Cronk, L. Ruppalt, J. Champlain, P.R. Berger, and D.J. Meyer, "Superior growth, yield, repeatability, and switching performance in GaN-based resonant tunneling diodes," Appl. Phys. Lett. 116, 113501 (2020).
- r. W.-D. Zhang, T.A. Growden, D.F. Storm, D.J. Meyer, P.R. Berger, and E.R. Brown, "Investigation of switching time in GaN/AIN resonant tunneling diodes by experiments and P-SPICE models", IEEE Trans. Electron.Dev. 67, 75 (2020).
- s. A.G. Jacobs, B.N. Feygelson, J.K. Hite, C.A. Gorsak, L.E. Luna, T.J. Anderson, and F.J. Kub, "Role of Capping Material and GaN Polarity on Mg Ion Implantation Activation," Phys. Status Sol. B 217 (7) 1900789 (2020).

- t. J.C. Gallagher, T.J. Anderson, A.D. Koehler, G.M. Foster, A.G. Jacobs, B.N. Feigelson, M.A. Mastro, J.K. Hite, and K.D. Hobart, "Reduced Contact Resistance in GaN using Selective Area Si Ion Implantation," IEEE Trans. Semiconductor Manuf. 32 (4), 478-482 (2019).
- u. N.R. Johnson, J.K. Hite, M.A. Mastro, C. R. Eddy, Jr., and S.M. George, "Thermal Atomic Layer Etching of Crystalline GaN Using Sequential Exposures of XeF<sub>2</sub> and BCl<sub>3</sub>," Applied Physics Letters 114, 243103 (2019).
- v. A.G. Jacobs, B.N. Feigelson, J.K. Hite, C.A. Gorsak, L.E. Luna, T.J. Anderson, F.J. Kub, "Polarity Dependent Implanted p-Type Dopant Activation in GaN," Jap. J. Appl. Phys. 58, SCCD07 (2019).
- w. T.J. Anderson, J.K. Hite, A.D. Koehler, L.E. Luna, J.C. Gallagher, A.G. Jacobs, B.N. Feigelson, K.D. Hobart, F.J. Kub, "Vertical Power Devices Enabled by Bulk GaN Substrates," Proc. SPIE 10918, Gallium Nitride Materials and Devices XIV, 1091816 (2019).
- x. Y. Wang, B. Tingyu, L. Chao, M.J. Tadjer, T.J. Anderson, J.K. Hite, M.A. Mastro, C.R. Eddy, K.D. Hobart, B.N. Feigelson, and M. Goorsky, "Defect Characterization of Multicycle Rapid Thermal Annealing Processed p-GaN for Vertical Power Devices," J. Electrochem. Soc. 8(2), P70-P76 (2019).
- y. J. C. Gallagher, T. J. Anderson, L.E. Luna, A. D. Koehler, J. K. Hite, N. Mahadik, K. D. Hobart, and F. J. Kub, "Long Range, Non-Destructive Characterization of GaN Substrates for Power Devices," Journal of Crystal Growth 506, 178-184 (2019).
- z. J.K. Hite, "Frontiers in Electronics and Photonics," ECS Interface 27(4), 41 (2018).
- aa. T.J. Anderson, S. Chowdhury, O. Aktas, M. Bockowski, J.K. Hite, "GaN Power Devices Current Status and Future Directions," ECS Interface 27(4), 43-47 (2018).
- bb. J.K. Hite, M.A. Mastro, L.E. Luna, and T.J. Anderson, "Understanding Interfaces in Homoepitaxial GaN Growth," ECS Transactions 86(9), 15-19 (2018).
- cc. T.A. Growden, E.M. Cornuelle, D.F. Storm, W.-D. Zhang, E.R. Brown, L.M. Whitaker, J.W. Daulton, R. Molnar, D.J. Meyer, and P.R. Berger, "930 kA/cm<sup>2</sup> peak tunneling current density in GaN/AIN resonant tunneling diodes grown on MOCVD GaN-on-sapphire templates," Appl. Phys. Lett. 114, 203503 (2019).
- dd. J.K. Hite, T.J. Anderson, L.E. Luna, J.C. Gallagher, M.A. Mastro, J.A. Freitas, and C.R. Eddy, Jr., "Influence of HVPE Substrates on Homoepitaxy of GaN Grown by MOCVD," J. Cryst. Growth 498, 352-356 (2018).
- ee. W. Zhang, J. L. Lyons, J. Cen, M. Y. Sfeir, and M. Liu, "Multicomponent Oxynitride Thin Films: Precise Growth Control and Excited State Dynamics," Chem. Mat. 31, 3461 (2019).
- ff. J.K. Hite, T.J. Anderson, J.C. Gallagher, M.A. Mastro, K.D. Hobart, F.J. Kub, C.R. Eddy, "Understanding GaN Homoepitaxial Growth and Substrate-Dependent Effects for Vertical Power Devices," CSMANTECH Digest 2019, 17.5 (2019).
- gg. S. C. Erwin and J. L. Lyons, "Atomic layer epitaxy of aluminum nitride: Unraveling the connection between hydrogen plasma and carbon contamination." ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 10, 20142 (2018).
- hh. T.A. Growden, W. Zhang, E.R. Brown, D.F. Storm, K. Hansen, P. Fakhimi, D.J. Meyer, and P.R. Berger, "431 kA/cm<sup>2</sup> peak tunneling current density in GaN/AlN resonant tunnel diodes," Appl. Phys. Lett. 112, 033508 (2018).

- T.A. Growden, W. Zhang, E.R. Brown, D.F. Storm, D.J. Meyer, and P.R. Berger, "Near-UV electroluminescence in unipolar-doped, bipolar-tunneling GaN/AlN heterostructures," Light: Sci. Appl. 7, 17150 (2018).
- jj. J.K. Hite, T.J. Anderson, M.A. Mastro, L.E. Luna, J.C. Gallagher, R.L. Myers-Ward, K.D. Hobart, and C.R. Eddy, Jr., "Effect of Surface Morphology on Diode Performance in Vertical GaN Schottky Diodes," ECS J. Sol. State Sci. Tech. 6 (11), S3103-3105 (2017).
- kk. M.S. Goorsky, T. Bai, C. Li, M. J. Tadjer, K. D. Hobart, T. J. Anderson, J. K. Hite, and B. N. Feigelson, "Novel Implantation Processing and Characterization for Scalable GaN Power Devices," ECS Trans. 80 (7), 251-260 (2017).

# 5.2 Book Chapters

- J.A. Freitas and M. Zajac, "Properties of Ammonothermal Crystals", Ammonothermal Synthesis and Crystal Growth of Nitrides, Ch. 16, eds. E. Meissner and R. Niewa, Springer Series in Materials Science, vol. 304, 2021.
- J.K. Hite and M.A. Mastro, "Understanding Interfaces for Homoepitaxial Growth of GaN," Wide Bandgap Semiconductor-Based Electronics, ed. Fan Ren and Stephen Pearton, IOP Publishing Ltd., Philadelphia, PA, Chapter 12, 2020
- c. W.-D. Zhang, T.A. Growden, E.R. Brown, P.R. Berger, D.F. Storm, and D.J. Meyer, "Fabrication and Characterization of GaN/AlN Resonant Tunneling Diodes," High-Frequency GaN Electronic Devices (Patrick Fay, Ed.), Springer Nature Switzerland AG (2019).

# 5.3 Patents

### 5.3.1 Patents Granted

- a. T.J. Anderson, J.K. Hite, J.C. Gallagher, K.D. Hobart, "Mapping Methods to Evaluate GaN Wafers for Vertical Device Applications," Granted 16 Aug 2022, US 11,415,518.
- E.R. Brown, W.-D. Zhang, T.A. Growden, P.R. Berger, D.F. Storm, D.J. Meyer, "Gallium Nitride Cross-Gap Light Emitters Based on Unipolar-Doped Tunneling Structures," Granted 29 October 2019, US 10,461,216.
- 5.3.2 Patent Applications
  - a. J.C. Gallagher, T.J. Anderson, J.K. Hite, K.D. Hobart, "Surface Profile Mapping for Evaluating III-N Device Performance and Yield," Application Date: 6/11/2021, application No 62/705,129.

# **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

Work at the US Naval Research Laboratory is supported by the Office of Naval Research.

# REFERENCES

- T. Sochacki, Z. Bryan, M. Amilusik, M. Bobea, M. Fijalkowski, I. Bryan, B. Lucznik, R. Collazo, J.L. Weyher, R. Kucharsi, I Grzegory, M. Bockowski, Z. Sitar, "HVPE-GaN grown on MOCVD-GaN/sapphire template and ammonothermal GaN seeds: Comparison of structural, optical, and electrical properties," J. Cryst. Growth 394, 55 (2014).
- D.F. Storm, D.J. Meyer, D.S. Katzer, S.C. Binari, "HOmoeptiaxial N=polar GaN layers and HEMT structures grown by rf-plasma assisted molecular beam epitaxy," J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B 30, 02B113 (2012).

- D.F. Storm, T.O. McConkie, M.T. Hardy, D.S. Katzer, N. Nepal, D.J. Meyer, "Surface preparation of freestanding GaN substrates for homoepitaxial GaN growth by rf-plasma MBE," J. Vac. Sci. Tech. B 35, 02B109 (2017).
- 4. D.F. Storm, M.T. Hardy, D.S. Katzer, N. Nepal, B.P. Downey, D.J. Meyer, T.O. McConkie, L. Zhou, and D.J. Smith, "Critical issues for homoepitaxial GaN growth by molecular beam epitaxy on hydride vapor-phase epitaxy-grown GaN substrates", J. Cryst. Growth **456**, 121 (2016).
- 5. S. Kurai, H. Miyake, K. Hiramatsu, "Microscopic potential fluctuations in Si-doped AlGaN epitaxial layers with various AlN molar fractions and Si concentrations," J. Appl. Phys. 119, 025707 (2016).
- 6. J.K. Hite, N.D. Bassim, M.E. Twigg, M.A. Mastro, F.J. Kub, C.R. Eddy, "GaN vertical and lateral polarity heterostructures on GaN substrates," J. Cryst. Growth 332, 43 (2011).
- D.F. Storm, D.S. Katzer, J.A. Mittereder, S.C. Binari, B.V. Shanabrook, L. Zhou, D.J. Smith, "Growth and characterization of plasma-assisted molecular beam epitaxial-growth AlGaN/GaN heterostructures on free-standing hydride vapor phase epitaxy GaN substrates," J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B 23, 1190 (2005).
- D. Li, L. tang, C Edmunds, J. Shao, G. Gardner, M.J. Manfra, O. Malis, "Repeatable low-temperature negative-differential resistance from Al<sub>0.18</sub>Ga<sub>0.82</sub>N/GaN resonant tunneling diodes grown by molecular-beam epitaxy on free-standing GaN substrates," Appl. Phys. Lett. 100, 252105 (2012).
- J.C. Gallagher, T.J. Anderson, L.E. Luna, A.D. Koehler, J.K. Hite, N.A. Mahadik, K.D. Hobart, and F.J. Kub, "Long range, non-destructive characterization of GaN substrates for power devices," J. Cryst. Growth 506, 178-184 (2019).
- 10. J.K. Hite, M.A. Mastro, J.C. Gallagher, M. Ebrish, T.J. Anderson, J.A. Freitas, "GaN Homoepitaxial Growth and Substrate-Dependent Effects for Vertical Power Devices," ECS Trans. 98, 63-67 (2020).
- 11. J.C. Gallagher, T.J. Anderson, A.D. Koehler, M.A. Ebrish, G.M. Foster, M.A. Mastro, J.K. Hite, B.P. Gunning, R.J. Kaplar, K.D. Hobart, and F.J. Kub, "Effect of GaN Substrate Properties on Vertical GaN PiN Diode Electrical Performance," J. Electr. Mater. 50, 3013-3021 (2021).
- J.K. Hite, T.J. Anderson, L.E. Luna, J.C. Gallagher, M.A. Mastro, J.A. Freitas, C.R. Eddy, Jr., "Influence of HVPE substrates on homoepitaxy of GaN grown by MOCVD," J. Cryst. Growth 4998, 352-356 (2018).
- J.K. Hite, M.A. Mastro, L.E. Luna, T.J. Anderson, "Understanding Interfaces in Homoepitaxial GaN Growth," ECS Trans. 86, 15-19 (2018).
- 14. J.K. Hite and M.A. Mastro, "Understanding Interfaces for Homoepitaxial Growth of GaN," Wide Bandgap Semiconductor-Based Electronics, ed. Fan Ren and Stephen Pearton, IOP Publishing Ltd., Philadelphia, PA, Chapter 12, 2020.
- 15. Y.R. Koh, M.S. Bin Hoque, D.H. Olson, H. Ahmad, Z. Liu, J. Shi, W. Steven, K. Huynh, E.R. Hoglund, J.M. Howe, M.S. Goorsky, S. Graham, T. Luo, J.K. Hite, W.A. Doolittle, and P.E. Hopkins, "High thermal conductivity and thermal boundary conductance of homoepitaxially grown gallium nitride (GaN) thin films," Phys. Rev. Mater. 5, 104604 (2021).
- 16. M.S. Bin Hoque, Y.R. Koh, K. Aryana, E.R. Hoglaund, J.L. Braun, D.H. Olson, J.T. Gaskins, H. Ahmad, M.M.M. Elahi, J.K. Hite, Z.C. Leseman, W.A. Doolittle, and P.E. Hopkins, "Thermal conductivity measurements of sub-surface buried substrates by steady-state thermoreflectance," Rev. Sci. Instrum. 92, 064906 (2021).
- 17. J.L. Lyons, D. Wickramaratne, C.G. Van de Walle, "A first-principles understanding of point defects and impurities in GaN," J. Appl. Phys. 129, 111101 (2021).

- A. Armstrong, A.R. Arehart, D. Green, U.K. Mishra, J.S. Speck, S.A. Ringel, "Impact of deep levels on the electrical conductivity and luminescence of gallium nitride codoped with carbon and silicon," J. Appl. Phys. 98, 053704 (2005).
- S. C. Erwin and J. L. Lyons, "Atomic layer epitaxy of aluminum nitride: Unraveling the connection between hydrogen plasma and carbon contamination." ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 10, 20142 (2018).
- 20. J.L. Lyons, A. Janotti, and C.G. Van de Walle, "Carbon impurities and the yellow luminescence in GaN," Appl. Phys. Lett. 97, 152108 (2010).
- 21. J. Lyons, E.R. Glaser, M.E. Zvanut, S. Paudel, M. Iwinska, T. Sochacki, M. Bockowski, "Carbon complexes in highly C-doped GaN," Phys. Rev. B 104, 075201, (2021).
- 22. W. Walukiewicz, "Intrinsic limitations to the doping of wide-gap semiconductors," Phys. B 302-303, 123-134 (2001).
- 23. J.L. Lyons, C.G. Van de Walle, "Hole Trapping at Acceptor Impurities and Alloying Elements in AlN," Phys. Status Sol. RRL 15 (8), 2100218 (2021).
- 24. M.E.Turiansky, D. Wickramaratne, J.L. Lyons, C.G. Van de Walle, "Prospects for n-type conductivity in cubic boron nitride" Appl. Phys. Lett. 119, 162105 (2021).
- 25. J.K. Hite, T.J. Anderson, M.A. Mastro, L.E. Luna, J.C. Gallagher, R.L. Myers-Ward, K.D. Hobart, and C.R. Eddy, Jr., "Effect of Surface Morphology on Diode Performance in Vertical GaN Schottky Diodes," ECS J. Sol. State Sci. Tech. 6 (11), S3103-3105 (2017).
- 26. T.J. Anderson, J.K. Hite, J.C. Gallagher, K.D. Hobart, "Mapping Methods to Evaluate GaN Wafers for Vertical Device Applications," Invention disclosure 4/20/19. Navy Case Number: 111,170. U.S. Provisional Patent Application No. 62/864,520 filed on June 21, 2019. Patent Application filed 6/22/2020, Granted 16 Aug 2022, US 11,415,518.
- 27. J.C. Gallagher, T.J. Anderson, J.K. Hite, K.D. Hobart, "Surface Profile Mapping for Evaluating III-N Device Performance and Yield," Navy Case Number: 113,217-US2, Invention Disclosure 6/12/20. Provisional date 6/12/2020. Application Date: 6/11/2021, application No 62/705,129.
- 28. J.C. Gallagher, T.J. Anderson, A.D. Koehler, M.A. Ebrish, G.M. Foster, M.A. Mastro, J.K. Hite, B.P. Gunning, R.J. Kaplar, K.D. Hobart, F.J. Kub, "Effect of GaN substrate properties on vertical GaN PiN diode electrical performance," J. Electr. Mater. 50, 3013-3021 (2021).
- 29. C. Chan, N. Shuyumi, J.K. Hite, M.A. Mastro, S. Qadri, X. Li, "Homoepitaxial GaN Micropillar Array by Plasma-Free Photo-Enhanced MacEtch," J. Vac.Sci. Tech. A 39, 053212 (2021).
- 30. E.M. Cornuelle, T.A. Growden, D.F. Storm, E.R. Brown, W.-D. Zhang, B.P. Downey, V. Gokhale, L. Ruppalt, J. Champlain, P. Peri, M. McCartney, D.J. Smith, D.J. Meyer, and P.R. Berger, "Effects of growth temperature on electrical properties of GaN/AlN resonant tunneling diodes with peak current density up to 1.01 MA/cm2," AIP Adv. 10, 055307 (2020).
- 31. T.A. Growden, D.F. Storm, E.M. Cornuelle, E.R. Brown, W.-D. Zhang, B.P. Downey, J.A. Roussos, N. Cronk, L. Ruppalt, J. Champlain, P.R. Berger, and D.J. Meyer, "Superior growth, yield, repeatability, and switching performance in GaN-based resonant tunneling diodes," Appl. Phys. Lett. 116, 113501 (2020).
- W.-D. Zhang, T.A. Growden, D.F. Storm, D.J. Meyer, P.R. Berger, and E.R. Brown, "Investigation of switching time in GaN/AIN resonant tunneling diodes by experiments and P-SPICE models", IEEE Trans. Electron.Dev. 67, 75 (2020).

33. T.A. Growden, E.M. Cornuelle, D.F. Storm, W.-D. Zhang, E.R. Brown, L.M. Whitaker, J.W. Daulton, R. Molnar, D.J. Meyer, and P.R. Berger, "930 kA/cm2 peak tunneling current density in GaN/AlN resonant tunneling diodes grown on MOCVD GaN-on-sapphire templates," Appl. Phys. Lett. 114, 203503 (2019).